THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-000460

DomainsNewMedia.com, LLC,

Respondent,

v.

Hilton Head Island-Bluffton Chamber of Commerce,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Robert E. Stepp (SC Bar No. 5335)
Tina Cundari (SC Bar No. 71951)
Bess J. DuRant (SC Bar No. 77920)
Sowell Gray Robinson Stepp & Laffitte, LLC
1310 Gadsden Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
803-939-1400
rstepp@sowellgray.com
tcundari@sowellgray.com
bdurant@sowellgray.com

Attorneys for Appellant

RECEIVED

JUN 15 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Did the circuit court err in ruling that the Hilton Head Island-Bluffton Chamber of Commerce, a private, nonprofit, membership-based organization, is a public body subject to the Freedom of Information Act based on the fact that the Chamber receives public funds to promote tourism in Hilton Head Island, Bluffton, and Beaufort County?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order ruling that the Hilton Head Island-Bluffton Chamber of Commerce (“the Chamber”), a private, nonprofit, membership-based organization is a public body subject to the Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”) because the Chamber receives public money to promote tourism in the local areas. The Chamber seeks to have this order reversed.

On January 15, 2013, a company called DomainsNewMedia.com, LLC (“Respondent”) sued the Chamber for failing to produce certain internal documents and information to Respondent. (R pp. 17 - 28.) The Chamber refused to produce the documents and information on the ground that the Chamber is a private organization and is not subject to the requirements of FOIA. (R. pp. 27 - 28.)

The Chamber responded to the complaint by filing a petition for original jurisdiction in this Court. (R. pp. 29 - 222.) The Chamber filed the petition because the Chamber wanted the issue raised in the complaint decided as expeditiously as possible. Since 2011, the Chamber, its Board of Directors, and officers, have been under attack by Respondent, who has sent numerous emails and taken out multiple full-page newspaper advertisements accusing the Chamber of conducting itself like a private, nonprofit entity, when it is Respondent’s position that the Chamber is a for-profit entity that should be treated like a public body under FOIA. *Id.*

In addition to filing the petition for original jurisdiction, the Chamber answered the complaint, denying that it was a public body subject to FOIA. (R. pp. 232 – 235.)

The petition for original jurisdiction was denied, and the case proceeded in circuit court. (R. p. 14.) Following discovery, the circuit court issued a Case Management Order stating “[t]he parties believe that the material facts are not in dispute and that the case primarily presents legal issues that will be ripe for decision by the Court.” (R. pp. 15 - 16.) Accordingly, on September

30, 2015, the parties filed cross motions for summary judgment on the legal issue of whether the Chamber is a public body subject to FOIA. (R. pp. 236 - 305.)

On January 27, 2016, the circuit court conducted a hearing. (R. pp. 351 - 406.) At the end of the hearing, the court requested proposed orders from the parties, and eventually signed the order submitted by Respondent. (R. pp. 1 – 13.) The order granted summary judgment in favor of Respondent, finding that the Chamber was a public body subject to FOIA. *Id.*

On March 3, 2016, the Chamber served and filed a Notice of Appeal. (R. pp. 348 - 350.) At the same time, the Chamber moved to transfer the case to this Court on the grounds that the case involves an issue of significant public interest and a legal principle of major importance. Respondent filed a return stating it did not oppose the motion to transfer. On June 16, 2016, this Court granted the Chamber's motion to transfer. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case presents the question of whether a Chamber of Commerce, which is a private, membership-based organization, is subject to the requirements of the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), simply because it receives money from state and local government entities for the purpose of promoting tourism in the local areas where the Chamber's members conduct business.

DomainsNewMedia.com LLC

This case arose out of a request for documents and information submitted by a company called DomainsNewMedia.com LLC (Respondent) and its CEO and Founder, Skip Hoagland. Respondent's business is owning website addresses or "domain names." (R. pp. 157 – 158.)

Since 2012, Hoagland has been on a mission to uncover what he believes are "abuses" by the Chamber. Hoagland has carried out the mission by purchasing multiple newspaper advertisements, some full-page size, criticizing various aspects of the Chamber. (R. pp. 145 - 176; 226 - 229.) The ads typically bear the heading, "StopChamberAbuse.com." (R. pp. 146 – 149; 155; 160.)

In one of the ads, which ran on Sunday, January 13, 2013, two days before the present case was filed, Hoagland said that the Chamber is a "hoax" and a "self-serving empire" that "take[s] huge chunks of money from public funds" and does so "at the expense of local media companies." (R. p. 146.) He then stated, "I will not stop until every rock is turned over . . . every abuse brought to light." (R. p. 147.)

Approximately two weeks later, Hoagland ran another ad, this one titled, "Chamber Lawsuit Filed." (R. p. 149.) Hoagland states that "being a person of stubborn upbringing, I have pushed forward into the court with a formal request as is my right under South Carolina Law and

its Freedom of Information Act (FOIA).” *Id.* He again concludes by stating he “will not stop until every rock is turned over, and every abuse brought to light.” *Id.*

In addition to purchasing newspaper ads, Hoagland has sent several emails to the Chamber, the Hilton Head Island town council, and others, attacking the Chamber and challenging its status as a nonprofit organization. For example, on November 7, 2011, approximately one year before Respondent submitted the FOIA request that sparked the present case, Hoagland wrote:

It seems those in Charge [sic] have easy choices and that is simply do whats [sic] right, if not all we will see is more problems and conflict, more full page ads in the Island Packet, HHI Monthly, TV prime news, coverage in surrounding city newspapers etc. . . . This will not stop until I and others are convinced the abuse has ended on all fronts for all of us.

(R. p. 166.)

Later, on May 3, 2012, Hoagland sent an email to the Director for the South Carolina Department of Parks, Recreation & Tourism stating:

Duane can you call to discuss Southcarolina.Com. . . .

The lawyers are now involved as well as many others watching this case nationwide. It is very possible all of this is headed for litigation, major press coverage, IRS investigations, legal rules and even [p]erhaps many lawsuits nationwide. Supreme Court is even a possibility.

(R. pp. 157 - 158.)

Similarly, on September 12, 2012, Hoagland wrote an email to several people, with a copy to Governor Haley, stating:

Headline news today in papers across America including our local Island Packet on latest Whistle Blower case for avoiding taxes. Headline news in Wall Street Journal as well. Chambers and CVBs could easily reach and exceed 1 billion with back taxes owed and

violations of 501-c6 IRS tax codes. This does not even include unfair competition damages to all local media and past media forced out of business, excessive salaries and abuse to local tax payers, violation of its mission statement and bylaws, abuse and possible violations to all members and local tax payers for misuse of funds with self serving interest and excessive salaries.

...

The HHI Chamber and Bill Miles has [sic] hired two lawyers to deal with me [sic] Why what reason? . . . The Hilton Head case is important because it will set the stage to expose the abuse in other cities across America.

(R. pp. 169 - 170.)

On September 26, 2012, Hoagland sent an email to the Chamber's board, stating:

Those who continue to sit on this board will lose business and credibility for themselves and the companies they represent as the abuse is allowed to continue and gets exposed in the press. It seems lawsuits are inevitable as well.

(R. p. 174.)

Finally, in an undated email with a subject line stating, "Today's letter to the editor,"

Hoagland wrote:

What I have been forced to do now is take this litigation and [sic] the SC Supreme Court if necessary. I will continue full Page ads educating and updating those who are interested. Will launch a direct mail piece to be sent out.

(R. p. 152.)

Documents and Information Requested

Against this backdrop, on November 26, 2012, Respondent, through its lawyer, sent a letter to the Chamber seeking the production of the following information and documents pursuant to FOIA:

1. All documents pertaining to a proposed Welcome Center for the Hilton Head Island-Bluffton Chamber of Commerce on any property owned by the Town of Hilton Head.
2. The names, sex, race, title and dates of employment of all employees and officers of the Hilton Head Island-Bluffton Chamber of Commerce.
3. All administrative staff manuals and written instructions to staff that affect a member of the public.
4. All statements of policy and interpretations of policy, statutes and the constitution that have been adopted by Hilton Head Island-Bluffton Chamber of Commerce.
5. All written planning policies and final planning decisions.
6. All information in or taken from all accounts, vouchers, or contracts dealing with the receipt or expenditure of public or other funds of the Hilton Head Island-Bluffton Chamber of Commerce, including all bank accounts and contracts pertaining to the receipt and use of any accommodation tax funds or state or local grants received and/or used by the Hilton Head Island-Bluffton Chamber of Commerce, including any funds allocated to or used by the Hilton Head Island Visitor and Convention Bureau.
7. The minutes of all meetings, including Board of Director meetings, and all votes taken at such meetings, except as exempted pursuant to S.C. Code § 30-4-70.

(R. pp. 46 – 48.)

On December 28, 2012, the Chamber received a request from *The Island Packet* seeking (1) the sources of revenue for the Chamber and the VCB, (2) the names of all Chamber and VCB employees whose compensation exceeds \$50,000, along with the compensation amount, and (3)

a copy of the Chamber's bylaws, including any revisions made over the last three years. (R. p. 50.)

The Chamber responded to both requests, declining to produce the documents and information requested on the ground that the Chamber is not a public body subject to FOIA. (R. pp. 52 – 53; 66 - 67.) Additionally, in response to the request from *The Island Packet*, the Chamber explained that it routinely accounts to public bodies for the receipt and expenditure of public funds, and gave *The Island Packet* the same information that it gives to the public bodies, including financial audits for fiscal years 2010, 2011, and 2012, as well as marketing budgets for fiscal years 2010, 2011, 2013, and 2013. (R. pp. 66 - 67.)

The Chamber

The Hilton Head Island Chamber of Commerce is a 501(c)(6) non-profit corporation established in 1957 under the laws of the State of South Carolina. (R. pp. 37; 103; 121; 223.) The purpose of the Chamber is to represent, serve, and promote the common interests of its membership and the business community, to stimulate the expanding regional economy, and to enhance the quality of life for all. *Id.* Among other things, the Chamber conducts various training, educational seminars, and promotions for its members. (R. pp. 105; 123.)

The Visitor and Convention Bureau (VCB) is a division of the Chamber. The purpose of the VCB is to promote tourism and marketing. (R. p. 487.)

The Chamber is funded by contributions from its members. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, the Chamber received approximately \$1.6 million from membership dues and events. (R. p. 132.) The Chamber also receives money from the private sector for purposes of marketing. (R. p. 421.) For example, a major hotel may approach the VCB to engage in a joint

marketing effort to attract people to Hilton Head. (R. p. 436.) For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, the Chamber received approximately \$1 million for projects like this. (R. p. 132.)

In addition to money received from members and the private sector, the Chamber receives funds from the Town of Hilton Head Island, the Town of Bluffton, and Beaufort County through the local accommodations tax (“A-Tax”), a creature of state statutory law. *Id.* For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, the Chamber received approximately \$1 million in A-Tax funds from the Town of Hilton Head Island, \$300,000 from Beaufort County, and \$80,000 from the Town of Bluffton. *Id.*

The Chamber has also received grant money from the South Carolina Department of Parks, Recreation, and Tourism (“PRT”). (R. p. 224.) For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, the Chamber received approximately \$1.1 million from this grant. (R. p. 132.)

The manner in which the A-Tax money is awarded and spent is controlled by statute. The A-Tax represents 2% of the 7% tax charged to people who stay overnight in hotels and other accommodations in the area. S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-2630(3) (2014). The proceeds of this tax “must be remitted quarterly to the county or municipality in which it is collected.” *Id.* Local government entities receiving A-Tax money must spend the money in accordance with the South Carolina Accommodations Tax Act. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 6-4-5 to -35 (2004).

For example, when a county or municipality collects more than \$50,000 from the tax, the first \$25,000 must be allocated to the county or municipality’s general fund. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-4-10(1) (2004). Of the remaining balance, 5% must be allocated to the general fund and 30% “must be allocated to a special fund and used only for advertising and promotion of tourism to develop and increase tourist attendance through the generation of publicity.” S.C. Code Ann. § 6-4-10(2) (2004) and (3) (Supp. 2015). The remaining 65% plus earned interest must be

allocated to a special fund for tourism-related expenditures defined by statute. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-4-10(4)(a) and (b) (Supp. 2015).

With respect to the 30% that must be used for advertising and the promotion of tourism, the government entity must select “one or more organizations, such as a chamber of commerce” with an “existing, ongoing tourist promotion program” to “manage and direct the expenditure of these tourism promotion funds.” S.C. Code Ann. § 6-4-10(3) (Supp. 2015). The selected organization is referred to as the Designated Marketing Organization, or “DMO.”

The Hilton Head Island-Bluffton Chamber of Commerce has been the DMO for the Town of Hilton Head Island each year since 1983, the Town of Bluffton since approximately 2001, and Beaufort County since 2009. (R. p. 493.)

Before the beginning of each fiscal year, the Chamber is required to submit a budget to the local government entities of planned expenditures. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-4-10(3) (Supp. 2015). Then, at the end of each fiscal year, the Chamber is required to render an accounting of the expenditures to the local government entity. *Id.* Both the budget and the accounting are available to the public through the local government entity.

In addition to meeting these statutory requirements, the Chamber provides the local government entities with a copy of its annual Independent Auditors’ Report prepared each year by a third party. (R. pp. 66 - 67.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Declaratory judgments are neither legal nor equitable.” *Bundy v. Shirley*, 412 S.C. 292, 301, 772 S.E.2d 163, 168 (2015). “The standard of review for a declaratory judgment action is therefore determined by the nature of the underlying issue.” *Wiedemann v. Town of Hilton Head Island*, 344 S.C. 233, 236, 542 S.E.2d 752, 753 (Ct. App. 2001). “Determining the proper

interpretation of a statute is a question of law, and this Court reviews questions of law de novo.” *Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston*, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008).

“The Court’s primary function in interpreting a statute is to ascertain the intent of the legislature.” *Roche v. Young Bros., Inc. of Florence*, 332 S.C. 75, 81, 504 S.E.2d 311, 314 (1998). “A statute as a whole must receive a practical, reasonable, and fair interpretation consonant with the purpose, design, and policy of the lawmakers.” *Id.* “Generally, statutes are to be construed with reference to the whole system of law of which they form a part.” *Id.* “In construing a statute, this Court is constrained to avoid an absurd result.” *Id.*

“When the circuit court grants summary judgment on a question of law, [the appellate court] review[s] the ruling de novo.” *Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners’ Ass’n, Inc. v. Builders. FirstSource-Southeast Grp.*, 413 S.C. 630, 634-35, 776 S.E.2d 434, 437 (Ct. App. 2015).

In the case at hand, the parties agreed that the facts are not in dispute and that the circuit court decided a question of law. Accordingly, the standard of review is de novo.

ARGUMENT

The circuit court’s decision should be reversed. The Hilton Head Island-Bluffton Chamber of Commerce is a private, nonprofit, membership-based organization that is not a public body subject the Freedom of Information Act. Although the statutory definition of “public body” is broad, there are limits to how it is applied. The definition should not be applied in a manner that converts private organizations into public bodies simply because they receive public money to provide goods and services to a public body, particularly when the public has access to how the money is spent through the public body.

Here, the circuit court erred in ruling that the Chamber is a public body. The Chamber is not a government entity, is not related to a government entity, and does not perform government

functions. The Chamber is the organization selected by the local government entities each year to purchase advertising and promote tourism in the local areas. The Chamber provides identifiable goods and services in exchange for the money it receives, does so pursuant to a budget approved by the local government entities, and publicly accounts for the expenditures each year.

Because the Chamber is not a public body and should be permitted to remain private, the circuit court order should be reversed, and judgment should be entered in favor of the Chamber.

I. The Chamber of Commerce is not a public body.

The circuit court erred in ruling that the Chamber is a public body subject to the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act.

The South Carolina Freedom of Information Act defines a public body as follows:

any department of the State, a majority of directors or their representatives of departments within the executive branch of state government as outlined in Section 1-30-10, any state board, commission, agency, and authority, any public or governmental body or political subdivision of the State, including counties, municipalities, townships, school districts, and special purpose districts, or *any organization, corporation, or agency supported in whole or in part by public funds or expending public funds*, including committees, subcommittees, advisory committees, and the like of any such body by whatever name known, and includes any quasi-governmental body of the State and its political subdivisions .

...

S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-20(a) (emphasis added).

South Carolina Supreme Court Decisions

This Court has recognized the overly broad nature of the definition of “public body,” and particularly the phrase “any organization, corporation, or agency supported in whole or in part by public funds or expending public funds.” See *Weston v. Carolina Research & Dev. Found.*, 303 S.C. 398, 401 S.E.2d 161 (1991) (limiting the application of FOIA to private entities); *Disabato v. S.C. Ass’n of Sch. Adm’rs*, 404 S.C. 433, 442, 746 S.E.2d 329, 333 (2013) (recognizing the limits of the “public body” definition). Because this language is so broad and could be read to capture any organization that receives public dollars, the dissent in *Disabato* found that the language could not be constitutionally applied and should be severed from the statute. *Id.* at 457, 746 S.E.2d at 457.

Accordingly, when determining whether a private entity is subject to FOIA, the Court does not simply look to see whether the entity receives public funds. Instead, the Court

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