THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-000460

---

DomainsNewMedia.com, LLC,.....Respondent,

v.

Hilton Head Island-Bluffton  
Chamber of Commerce, .....Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Andrew S. Radeker  
S.C. Bar No. 73743  
Taylor M. Smith IV  
S.C. Bar No. 101584  
Harrison & Radeker, P.A.  
Post Office Box 50143  
Columbia, South Carolina 29250  
(803) 779-2211  
Attorneys for Respondent

RECEIVED  
JUN 15 2017  
S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY

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

The timing of the enactment of each of these statutes further bears this out. The A-Tax fund statutory requirements were created by Act 612 (ratification number 715) of the South Carolina General Assembly and took effect on June 13, 1990. The

code section of FOIA that defines a “public body,” S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-20, was passed by the General Assembly as Act 118 (ratification number 164) and took effect in 1988. The General Assembly, knowing FOIA’s definition of a “public body,” enacted a law creating the concept of designated marketing organizations that put them squarely within that definition. Had the General Assembly intended for designated marketing organizations to be exempt from FOIA’s definition of a public body, it would have done so. It did not.

The Hilton Head DMO tries throughout its brief to distinguish this case from Weston. In Weston, this Court determined that the facts before it put the Foundation squarely within the scope of S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-20(a). Weston, 303 S.C. at 403. This Court did not purport to limit the application of S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-20(a) or to change it in any way. Id. This Court did not purport in Weston to address every situation in which an organization might fall under the definition of “public body” for FOIA purposes. Id. That said, the Hilton Head DMO’s attempts to distinguish Weston are unavailing. Were the Court to apply the exact same analysis as in Weston, the conclusion would be the same: the Hilton Head DMO is a public body for FOIA purposes.

The Hilton Head DMO contends that its status as a designated marketing organization results in more transparency than the Research Foundation provided in Weston. That is irrelevant. It is the receipt or spending of public funds that controls whether an organization falls within the ambit of S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-20(a). While Weston did not purport to address every situation in which an organization falls under the FOIA definition of “public body,” there are telling similarities between the

activities of the Foundation and the Hilton Head DMO. Both the Foundation in Weston and the Hilton Head DMO received *en masse*<sup>1</sup> transfers of public funds. Like all facts in this case, that is not in dispute. (R. pp. 423; case management order; Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment at 3; Transcript of Depo. of Ray Deal, p. 16 ln. 11-13). As did the Foundation, the Hilton Head DMO undertakes the management of spending public funds after they are received. (R. pp. 450; Deal Dep. 43:3 – 45:20).

The Hilton Head DMO's Initial Brief provides:

[T]he Court does not simply look to whether the entity receives public funds. Instead, the Court examines various factors, including the purpose of the private entity, the relationship between the private entity and the public body, the manner in which the public funds are disbursed to the entity, the control the public body has over the funds, and whether the public has access to how the funds are spent. Weston, 303 S.C. at 404, 401 S.E.2d at 165.

Appellant's Initial Brief 14.

The Hilton Head DMO cannot add elements to the Weston analysis that were not stated by this Court. There is no mention of these "factors" as part of the analysis in either that cited section of Weston or anywhere else in the opinion. Nor, for that matter, is there any such mention in the plain words of S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-20(a). "[T]he unambiguous language of the FOIA mandates that the receipt of support in whole or in part from public funds brings a corporation within the definition of a public body." Weston, 303 S.C. at 164. A legislative body has the power to prescribe legal

---

<sup>1</sup> "En Masse" and "Lump Sum" appear to be synonymous. "En masse – In a mass; in a large group all at once; all together." Black's Law Dictionary 610 (9th ed. 2009). "Lump sum payment – A payment of a large amount all at once, as opposed to a series of smaller payments over time." Black's Law Dictionary 1244 (9th ed. 2009).

definitions under the language of its own statutes. Windham v. Pace, 192 S.C. 271, 283, 6 S.E.2d 270, 275 (1939); see also Bell Finance v. South Carolina Dept. of Consumer Affairs, 297 S.C. 111, 374 S.E.2d 918 (Ct. App. 1988) (statutory definitions should be followed in interpreting the statute); Fruehauf Trailer Co. v. South Carolina Electric Gas Co., 223 S.C. 320, 75 S.E.2d 688 (1953) (lawmaking body's construction of statutory language by means of definitions employed in statute should be followed when interpreting statute).

It is not necessary that an organization “have unfettered discretion to expend public funds” for it to qualify as a public body under the definition in S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-20(a). (Brief of Appellant at 26.) The Hilton Head DMO’s protests aside, it plainly receives, spends, and manages the expenditure of millions of dollars in public money that it gets in regular lump sum payments. In Weston, this Court found that each of the four transactions on which it focused would alone “bring the Foundation within the FOIA's definition of public body.” Weston 303 S.C. at 164. In one such transaction, the Foundation argued that the \$2,000,000 cash grant from the City of Columbia and the \$3,750,000 cash grant from Richland County that were given to it to build the university’s engineering center were provided to it “pursuant to a contractual agreement and that once the City and County transferred the property in performance of their contractual agreement, the expenditure of public funds ended.” Id. This Court said that it did not find this argument persuasive. Id. “Funds from the public coffer were given to the Foundation which managed the expenditure of the funds and the development of the real estate. By these actions, the Foundation received support from and expended public funds.” Id.

In Weston, the Court noted the following:

when a block of public funds is diverted en masse from a public body to a related organization, or when the related organization undertakes the management of the expenditure of public funds, the only way the public can determine with specificity how the funds were spent is through access to the records and affairs of the organization receiving and spending the funds.

Weston 303 S.C. at 165 (emphasis added). Contrary to the position of the Hilton Head DMO, the public does not have ample access to information of the Hilton Head DMO regarding how the public funds it receives are, in fact, spent. The trial court in this case correctly noted that if the only information available to a person is what was provided by the Hilton Head DMO to the public entity under the current minimum requirements of the A-Tax statutory framework, then the person requesting would receive significantly less information than would be available in a traditional FOIA context. (R. pp. 10-11; Order granting summary judgment p. 10-11). The Hilton Head DMO states that it submits a “a proposed budget at the beginning of each fiscal year showing how the funds will be spent.” (Brief of Appellant p. 23). The trial court correctly noted that, “[a]t best, the budget can only do what other budgets do: forecast how money is expected to be spent.” (R. pp. 11; Order granting summary judgment at 11). The only time a person would have the opportunity to learn how The Hilton Head DMO actually spent the very large amount of public monies it spends would be to seek a copy of the year-end accounting from the associated public entity. The trial court analyzed one of these year-end accountings, though. (R. pp. 11; Order granting summary judgment p. 11; Depo. of Deal). The trial found that the accounting failed to describe “with specificity how those funds were spent.” (R. pp. 11; Order granting summary judgment

p. 10). “The accounting provides very little, if any, information on, for instance, the particular vendor chosen for a certain expenditure in furtherance of a stated tourism purpose.” (R. pp. 11; Order granting summary judgment p. 11).

The Hilton Head DMO is incorrect to contend that it is not a “related organization” under the Weston analysis. The Hilton Head DMO serves as the DMO for the towns of Hilton Head Island and Bluffton and for Beaufort County. The Hilton Head DMO also provides services to the private members of its organization “that are completely separate and apart from the services it provides in its capacity as DMO.” (R. pp. 9; Order granting summary judgment p. 9.) “But the Defendant may not avoid FOIA compliance simply by organizing as a hybrid Chamber-CVB [(Convention and Visitor’s Bureau, the kind of entity that typically serves as a DMO)].” (R. pp. 9; Order granting summary judgment p. 9.) Despite the contention by the Amicus Myrtle Beach Chamber that the Hilton Head DMO’s role as DMO “bears no resemblance to the relationship between the University and the Foundation in Weston,” there is no support in the law for the proposition that the Hilton Head DMO must have the same *kind* of connection to public entities that the Foundation had to the University to be considered a “related organization.” “The Chamber may not work for the exclusive benefit of its public entities as the Foundation did for its in Weston, but it certainly works for the benefit of the Town of Hilton Head, the Town of Bluffton, and Beaufort County and is therefore a related organization.” (R. pp. 9; Order granting summary judgment p. 9).

The argument that the Hilton Head DMO receives payment from the public entities it serves “in return for supplying specific goods or services on an arms-length basis” lacks support in the record. Weston, 303 S.C. at 165. If the Hilton Head DMO

does this, then what are those specific goods or services? The Hilton Head DMO receives its public funds for *being* something – the designated marketing organization – not for doing a specific task or providing a specific item. Further, the section of the Weston opinion cited by The Hilton Head DMO is not the Court’s holding in that matter and was expressly identified as a situation different from what was not before the Court in that case. Id. (“**In that situation**, there is an exchange of money for identifiable goods or services and access to the public body’s records would show how the money was spent) (emphasis added). That may be why the Court did not supply a definition for “arms-length basis” in Weston. As the trial judge noted, though, such a definition does exist. (See R. pp. 10-11; Order granting summary judgment pp. 10-11.) “Arm’s length” is defined as “of or relating to dealings between two parties who are not related or not on close terms and who are presumed to have roughly equal bargaining power; not involving a confidential relationship.” Black’s Law Dictionary 88 (8<sup>th</sup> ed. 2005). The record is devoid of any agreement between the Hilton Head DMO and any public entity concerning the Hilton Head DMO’s status as DMO. It appears that the Hilton Head DMO’s status as the DMO has been understood for years, with no opportunity extended to any other organization to become the DMO. The trial court correctly concluded that the relationship between the Hilton Head DMO and its public entities “is one that is close and not at arms-length.” (R. pp. 12; Order granting summary judgment p. 12). The trial court also correctly identified that the analysis concerning whether a given transaction of the Hilton Head DMO would be one “in return for supplying specific goods or services” was impractical and unnecessary, considering breadth of services the Hilton Head DMO provides. Id. While the Hilton Head DMO

is correct that a written agreement is not a *sine qua non* of an arms-length relationship, the absence of any written agreement and the absence of any evidence of negotiations are certainly evidence of the lack of an arms-length relationship. The Weston opinion did not write in an “arm’s length” exception to the FOIA definition of a public body, but even if it had, the only facts in the record are to the effect that the relationship between the Hilton Head DMO and government entities it serves is not one at arm’s length.

The relationship between the Hilton Head DMO and these governments is not an arm’s length relationship; it is a close relationship, and it is also a *statutory* relationship, one under which the Hilton Head DMO is expressly tasked with carrying out the governmental function of managing and spending A-Tax revenues. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-4-10(3).

The Hilton Head DMO falls within the definition of “public body” under S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-20(a).

## **II. The Hilton Head DMO makes many unpreserved arguments.**

To be preserved for appellate review, an argument must have been both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court. *E.g., Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 497 S.E.2d 731 (1998). “Where a matter is not ruled on by the circuit court, the issue is not preserved for appellate review unless the complaining party moves to amend the judgment pursuant to Rule 59(e).” *Vespazziani v. McAlister*, 307 S.C. 411, 413, 415 S.E.2d 427, 428 (Ct. App. 1992). If the appealing party made the argument to the trial court in the first instance and did not receive a ruling on it, if he presents the argument

again in a Rule 59 motion, it is then preserved for review, even if the trial court does not rule on it in response to that motion. Id.

The Hilton Head DMO did not make any Rule 59 motion with regard to the trial court's order; rather, it chose to make a direct appeal. Accordingly, if the trial court's order did not address an argument that the Hilton Head DMO makes in its brief, that argument is not preserved for review by this Court. While the Hilton Head DMO's arguments would not sway this Court based on their substance, many of them are not preserved for this Court's review.

Unpreserved arguments made by the Hilton Head DMO include the following:

1. Any attempt to argue that the operative language of S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-20(a) is unconstitutional (Initial Brief of Appellant p. 14);
2. Argument based on other jurisdictions' law concerning those jurisdictions Freedom of Information Acts and their definitions of "public body" (Initial Brief of Appellant pp. 19-20, 23);
3. Argument regarding control of the Hilton Head DMO or lack thereof by government entities (Initial Brief of Appellant p. 21);
4. Argument about government entities not acting through the Hilton Head DMO (Initial Brief of Appellant p. 21);
5. Argument that the Hilton Head DMO does not perform government functions (Initial Brief of Appellant p. 22);
6. Argument that FOIA does not apply to a private entity that receives public funds for a specific purpose (Initial Brief of Appellant pp. 22-23);

7. Argument about whether the Hilton Head DMO could be liable to local governments (Initial Brief of Appellant p. 25);
8. Argument that the level of discretion a designated marketing organization has about how to spend government funds matters with regard to whether it is a “public body” for FOIA purposes (Initial Brief of Appellant pp. 26-30);
9. Argument to the effect that reporting to local governments would be unnecessary if the General Assembly had intended for a designated marketing organization to be subject to FOIA (Initial Brief of Appellant p. 29);
10. Argument that the Hilton Head DMO “should be permitted to remain private” and argument that being a “public body” for FOIA purposes would change the nature of the organization (Initial Brief of Appellant pp. 30-34);
11. Argument to the effect that Respondent is “on a mission to harm” the Hilton Head DMO (Initial Brief of Appellant p. 32);
12. Argument to the effect that the information sought does not touch upon uncovering secret government activity (Initial Brief of Appellant p. 32);
13. Argument that the trial court’s decision undermines the membership-based nature of the Hilton Head DMO’s organization (Initial Brief of Appellant pp. 33-34); and
14. Argument that the Hilton Head DMO would have to comply with FOIA’s requirements concerning meeting notices and agenda. (Initial Brief of Appellant p. 34.)

These arguments were not addressed by the trial court's order and were not subject of any Rule 59 motion, since the Hilton Head DMO made no such motion. Accordingly, regardless of whether the Hilton Head DMO made these to the trial court – and not all of them were made to the trial court – they are not preserved for appellate review.

**III. Applying FOIA to private entities that have a major role in spending government money is not unnecessary or unwise. It is, rather, a prudent measure by the General Assembly.**

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